
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

ALEXANDRIA DIVISION 
 
KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY,   ) 

) 
Plaintiff     ) 

v.       ) 
       ) 
TOWN OF PURCELLVILLE;   ) 
       ) 
ALEXANDER VANEGAS;    )  Civil Action No. 1:19-cv-1645  
       ) 
GEORGIA NUCKOLLS,    ) 

d/b/a PROHR, INC.,    ) 
a/k/a THEADORA NUCKOLLS,  ) 
f/k/a GEORGIA HERRON;  ) 

       ) 
JOSEPH SCHROECK;    ) 
       ) 
CLARK McDANIEL;    ) 
       ) 
DARYLL DeBOW; and    ) 
       ) 
NORTHERN VIRGINIA PRE-EMPLOYMENT ) 
& POLYGRAPH SERVICES,   ) 
       ) 
 Defendants.     ) 
 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

 COMES NOW, the Plaintiff, KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY, by counsel, and moves for 

judgment against the Defendants for the relief and upon the causes of action as follows:  

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. The circumstances of the Complaint relate to the extraordinary efforts taken by 

the Town of Purcellville through its officials, officers, employees, contractors, and agents to 

remove the Town’s Chief of Police, and, in doing so, maliciously, improperly, and without cause 

damage the professional reputation of the Plaintiff, a law enforcement officer on the Town’s 

police force. 
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2. The causes of actions herein seek to compensate the Plaintiff for the damages he 

sustained through the actions of the Town and those participating individuals and entities named 

above as defendants. 

PARTIES 

3. At all times when the actions alleged herein occurred Plaintiff Kristopher T. 

Fraley (“Officer Fraley”) was employed by the Town of Purcellville as a law enforcement officer 

with the Purcellville Police Department. Due to the actions alleged herein and continuing 

consequences thereof, Officer Fraley is now employed as a Deputy Sheriff for Clarke County, 

Virginia.  

4. The Defendant Town of Purcellville (“Town”) is an incorporated Town within 

Loudoun County. 

5. The Defendant Alex Vanegas (“Vanegas”) is an individual who was formerly 

employed by the Town as its Interim Town Manager and is a resident of Prince William County. 

6. The Defendant Georgia Nuckolls (“Nuckolls”) is an individual who was retained 

by the Town to provide human resources services to the Town, and is a resident of Loudon 

County, Virginia. 

7. The Defendant Joseph Schroeck (“Lieutenant Schroeck” and/or “Acting Chief 

Schroeck”) is a former law enforcement officer for the Town, now retired from that position, and 

is a resident of Delaware. 

8. The Defendant Clark McDaniel (“Sergeant McDaniel”) is a former law 

enforcement officer for the Town, now believed to be employed in the same capacity by Warren 

County, Virginia, and is a resident of Martinsburg, West Virginia. 

Case 1:19-cv-01645-LO-JFA   Document 57   Filed 06/22/20   Page 2 of 49 PageID# 729



 3 

9. The Defendant Northern Virginia Pre-Employment & Polygraph Services (“Nova 

Poly”) is a Virginia corporation engaged in the business of providing polygraph services to 

government and commercial employers with a registered business address of 7885 Coppermine 

Drive, Manassas, Virginia. 

10. The Defendant Daryl DeBow (“DeBow”) is the owner and operator of Nova Poly, 

is a Polygraph Examiner licensed to practice in Virginia (license #1601000666), licensed as an 

instructor of polygraphers, and is a resident of Loudoun County. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.   

12. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2).  

MATERIAL BACKGROUND FACTS 

13. Officer Fraley was hired by the Town in January of 2015 to serve as a law 

enforcement officer for the Town of Purcellville Police Department (“PPD” or “Department”).  

Officer Fraley has performed his duties on behalf of the Town and its residents with distinction, 

regularly garnering multiple commendations and awards for his professionalism and 

enforcement.   

14. Fraley had an employment contract for, and a property interest in his employment 

with the Town: he could not be fired except for cause and he was entitled to due process in any 

termination.  

15. At the time of Officer Fraley’s hiring, the Department was led by Chief Darryl C. 

Smith (“Chief Smith”). On or about April 1, 2015, soon after Officer Fraley on-boarded, Chief 

Smith resigned and retired from the Department.  
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16. Thereafter, the Town hired Police Chief Cynthia McAlister (“Chief McAlister”) 

to replace Chief Smith.  Chief McAlister was an external, direct hire from the Fairfax County 

Police Department, and she was the first female ranking officer in the history of the Department. 

CONSPIRACY TO REMOVE CHIEF MCALISTER 

17. On June 15, 2015, Chief McAlister began her tenure as Chief of the PPD.  Her 

stated intention was to modernize and improve the Department’s public image and effectiveness, 

and to raise the standard of professionalism expected of PPD personnel to meet contemporary 

police department standards. Chief McAlister’s management style emphasized the importance of 

accountability, professionalism, and integrity of PPD personnel in the performance of their 

duties.  

18. The preexisting internal culture of the Department at the time of Chief 

McAlister’s appointment was one of lax enforcement of the Department’s internal regulations 

and standards of conduct.  Senior officers within the Department became accustomed to a lack of 

PPD oversight and supervision.   

19. Chief McAlister’s objectives and approach stood in contrast to the Department’s 

culture established during Chief Smith’s tenure.  Following the implementation of updated and 

revised internal Department standards and regulations, Chief McAlister began diligently 

enforcing the updated regulations and pursuing appropriate disciplinary action in response to 

violations of these regulations by individual Department employees.  Ultimately, in addition to 

other consequences, the Chief’s efforts led to initiation of internal affairs investigations of two 

PPD law enforcement officers, Officer Timothy Hood and Sergeant Guy Dinkins, which resulted 

in their termination from employment with the Department. 
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20. The implementation and enforcement of Chief McAlister’s new standards met 

significant internal resistance from the Department’s senior officers, who resented the changing 

focus and their increased responsibility and accountability.  These senior officers, among them 

Lieutenant Schroeck and Sergeant McDaniel, began to express their discontent with Chief 

McAlister’s leadership.  These senior officers actively sought the removal of Chief McAlister 

and to have her replaced with Lieutenant Schroeck, who was expected to significantly relax the 

standard of accountability for the senior officers.  

21. To carry out this effort, these senior officers began to coordinate and circulate 

manufactured and pretextual grievances against Chief McAlister, both within the Department 

and to Town leadership, with the goal of hurting Department morale and placing political 

pressure upon Town officials to compel Chief McAlister’s termination. 

ACTIONS OF TOWN COUNCIL 

22. By the beginning of 2016, several elected officials, including four Town Council 

members, (collectively, the “Four Council Members”) were openly committed to removing and 

replacing Chief McAlister.  In addition to any credence given to the grievances expressed by the 

senior officers of the Department, the Four Council Members had personal differences with 

Chief McAlister.  Further, some had voiced different views as to the future role, if any, of the 

Department as the Town’s law enforcement agency.   

23. During this period, the Town Council both openly and privately discussed 

replacing or supplementing the Department with assets of the Loudoun County Sheriff’s Office.  

However, such efforts were met with public opposition and shelved.  Notwithstanding this 

opposition, the Four Council Members remained committed to removing Chief McAlister. 
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24. On or about April 25, 2017, the then-Town Manager, Robert Lohr Jr. (“Lohr”), 

announced his early retirement after having been pressured by several members of Town 

Council, including the Four Council Members, so as to exert stronger control over the Town 

government and personally direct change in Town management.  The Four Council Members 

wanted to use the opportunity to change the Department generally and remove Chief McAlister 

specifically. 

25. At that time, Mr. Vanegas was serving as Director of Public Works for the Town 

and announced his intention to compete for the vacant Town Manager position. The Four 

Council Members secured assurances from Mr. Vanegas that, should he be appointed as Interim 

Town Manager, he would take such necessary actions to remove Chief McAlister from the 

Department.   

26. Upon securing such assurances, the Town Council, with the affirmative votes of 

the Four Council Members, appointed Mr. Vanegas as Interim Town Manager in May 2017, 

effective on July 1, 2017.  Mr. Vanegas’ appointment was made over other, better qualified and 

more experienced applicants.  

27. The Four Council Members were indifferent to Mr. Vanegas’ lack of relevant 

qualifications and experience when they appointed him Interim Town Manager.  Rather, they 

each voted in favor of his appointment based upon his agreement to terminate Chief McAlister.  

28. To determine how to terminate Chief McAlister, the Town’s agents sought and 

received advice from other sources, including local law enforcement outside the Department—

specifically, Loudoun County Sheriff, Michael L. Chapman (“Sheriff Chapman”).  Sheriff 

Chapman’s animus toward Chief McAlister was well-known by the Four Council Members.  
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29. Through these communications, the Town’s agents were introduced to and began 

to directly confer with Ms. Nuckolls on methods the Town could employ to effectuate the 

removal of Chief McAlister. 

30. As a result, on or about July 27, 2017, Mr. Vanegas coordinated the simultaneous 

filing of formal complaints against Chief McAlister by at least six (6) of the senior officers 

within the Department, including Sergeant McDaniel and Lieutenant Schroeck. Many, if not all, 

of these complaints were unfounded, pretextual, and contained false allegations against Chief 

McAlister.   

31. Mr. Vanegas hoped to use the fabricated complaints as a pretext to summarily 

terminate Chief McAlister and prepared a letter suggesting the same.   

32. However, Mr. Vanegas was advised by the Town Attorney that the complaints of 

the senior members of the Department were insufficient in and of themselves to summarily 

remove Chief McAlister and that a formal investigation would be necessary to determine the 

merit of the complaints and what, if any, consequences should result.   

33. Notwithstanding, because of the complaints, Mr. Vanegas was permitted to place 

Chief McAlister on administrative leave pending the investigation.  Mr. Vanegas did do so on or 

about August 28, 2017, and, with the knowledge, approval, and understanding of the Four 

Council Members, opened a formal investigation of Chief McAlister (the “McAlister 

Investigation”). 

34. Per agreement with the Department’s senior officers, Lieutenant Schroeck was 

formally named Acting Chief of the PPD by Mr. Vanegas, pending the results of the 

investigation. 
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35. After McAlister was placed on administrative leave McDaniel began to comment 

that McAlister was being fired.  

36. Mr. Vanegas and the Four Council Members became concerned that other Town 

employees might frustrate the investigation on both substantive and procedural grounds. 

Specifically, Mr. Vanegas and the Four Council Members noted the resistance of the Town 

Attorney and the Town’s Human Resources Manager to Mr. Vanegas’ attempts to force Chief 

McAlister’s termination, and, upon information and belief, both were placed on a written list, 

along with Chief McAlister, of Town employees that the Four Council Members and Mr. 

Vanegas wanted to terminate. 

37. Mr. Vanegas and the Four Council Members did not trust any member of the 

Town’s Human Resources Department to conduct the investigation for fear that an investigation 

conducted internally might reveal the nature of the complaints and result in the retention of Chief 

McAlister. 

38. To avoid further internal resistance, Mr. Vanegas and the Four Council Members 

agreed that the Town should retain Ms. Nuckolls, ostensibly as an ‘independent investigator,’ to 

produce a result-oriented investigation of Chief McAlister by embedding her directly into the 

Town personnel system.  Such decision was made notwithstanding Mr. Vanegas’ and the Four 

Council Members’ indifference to meaningful qualifications or experience held by Ms. Nuckolls 

to conduct such investigation. 

39. In exchange for her complicity in the McAlister Investigation, Mr. Vanegas and 

the Four Council Members agreed that Ms. Nuckolls would ultimately be hired by the Town in 

the position of the Town’s Human Resources Manager, following the termination of Chief 

McAlister.  
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40. Ms. Nuckolls agreed to the idea and was offered and accepted the consulting 

position by Mr. Vanegas in writing in a September 21, 2017 email.  See email thread between 

Nuckolls and Vanegas attached hereto as Exhibit 1. Such offer was made with the approval 

and understanding of the Four Council Members.   

41. The following day, Ms. Nuckolls further ratified the idea that she would be 

embedded within the Town as an independent investigator.  See email from Nuckolls to 

Vanegas regarding Chapman, attached hereto as Exhibit 2.  

HIRING OF MS. NUCKOLLS BY THE TOWN 

42. The Town officials knew that in order to secure Ms. Nuckolls’ services, the Town 

would first need to demonstrate the need for a position to procure Ms. Nuckolls’ selection.  In 

part to create an official need, Mr. Vanegas, working with the knowledge of the Four Council 

Members, administratively suspended the Town’s Human Resources Manager on pretextual 

grounds.   

43. To ensure that Ms. Nuckolls would be selected for the special consultant spot 

created, the Town, by and through Interim Town Manager Vanegas and with the agreement and 

acquiescence of the Four Council Members, could not reasonably open the bidding to other, 

qualified investigators.  Therefore, Mr. Vanegas and the Four Council Members intentionally 

ignored and bypassed the requirements of standard Town practices and the Virginia Public 

Procurement Act, codified at Va. Code Ann. §§ 2.2-4300, et seq. (the “Procurement Act”).1   

 
1  The Virginia Public Procurement Act sets forth the necessary procedure for governmental 
procurement of goods and services from nongovernmental sources. The stated purpose of the 
Procurement Act, in part, is to ensure that all public bodies (including local government entities) 
in Virginia adhere to fair and impartial procurement procedures and avoid any impropriety or 
appearance thereof in so doing, that no vendor, bidder, or offeror be “arbitrarily or capriciously 
excluded” from the bidding or negotiation process, that the specifications of the contract award 
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44. No competitive bids were solicited by the Town.  Instead, Mr. Vanegas 

completed, executed, and submitted a Town Procurement Quotation Sheet on September 22, 

2017 that included two additional supposed ‘bids’ for the position from other individuals and 

wherein ProHR, Inc. is represented as being the lowest-cost bidder. See Town Procurement 

Quotation Sheet attached hereto as Exhibit 3.  These other ‘bids’ were neither solicited by nor 

submitted to the Town, but were merely quotes secured by Mr. Vanegas as to the hourly rates of 

the individuals identified therein in order to ensure that Ms. Nuckolls’ rate would appear 

credible. 

45. Shortly thereafter, on September 25, 2017, the Town, by and through Mr. 

Vanegas, formally retained Ms. Nuckolls (doing business as ProHR, Inc., ostensibly an entity 

owned and operated by Ms. Nuckolls), to provide human resources consulting services for the 

Town and conduct the McAlister Investigation.  See Contract Agreement attached hereto as 

Exhibit 4 (“Contract”). 

46. Ms. Nuckolls never submitted any proof of insurance as required by the Contract.  

In fact, the corporate existence of ProHR, Inc. had been terminated by the Virginia State 

 
reflect the public body’s procurement needs and are not “drawn to favor a particular vendor.” 
Va. Code Ann. § 2.2-4300(C). The explicit intent of the General Assembly in enacting the 
Procurement Act is “that competition be sought to the maximum feasible degree[.]” Id.   

The Procurement Act includes, in part, the following requirements: all public contracts 
with nongovernmental contractors must only be awarded after competitive sealed bidding or 
competitive negotiation (both of which are discussed in detail in the Procurement Act), with 
some narrow exceptions;  all procurement contracts must include certain provisions, including 
requiring all business entity-contractors be authorized to transact business in Virginia and not 
allow their business registration to lapse, or be revoked or cancelled at any point during the 
contract term; the public body shall select either the lowest-cost responsible bidder in a 
competitive sealed bidding process or the fully qualified offeror deemed best suited for the 
position in a competitive negotiation process; and prohibiting any public employee responsible 
for the procurement transaction from knowingly falsifying, concealing, or misrepresenting 
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Corporation Commission at the time she contracted with the Town.  See SCC Certificate of 

Fact regarding ProHR, Inc. attached hereto as Exhibit 5.  A later audit of Ms. Nuckolls’ 

investigation and findings revealed that none of her claimed credentials, certifications, or degrees 

were able to be verified. See Section III, pp. 3-12, of the Public Report: Phase 1 attached 

hereto as Exhibit 6.  The Town intentionally failed to make any attempt at corroborating Ms. 

Nuckolls’ stated qualifications or credentials and awarded the contract to Ms. Nuckolls, d/b/a 

ProHR, Inc., in an email dated September 21, 2017 (see Exhibit 2).  

47. The Town procured the services of ProHR, Inc. and Ms. Nuckolls based wholly 

upon the understanding that her investigation of Chief McAlister would return findings that 

would give the Town authority and cover to remove of Chief McAlister from the PPD.  See 

email from Nuckolls to Vanegas attached hereto as Exhibit 7. 

48. Moreover, while Ms. Nuckolls’ Contract only authorized her to investigate the 

complaints from the senior PPD officers regarding Chief McAlister filed on July 27, 2016, Ms. 

Nuckolls and the Town, by and through Mr. Vanegas and the Four Council Members, agreed that 

she would be empowered to lead the Town’s efforts to terminate Chief McAlister and ultimately 

conduct any additional investigations of other Department personnel as she deemed necessary to 

achieve that ultimate goal. 

OFFICER FRALEY’S REPORT TO MS. NUCKOLLS 

49. During the early part of 2016, Officer Fraley was a low-ranking ‘road unit’ for the 

Department.  He was not active in any of the efforts by senior officers of the Department to 

remove Chief McAlister.  However, he was aware of and professionally opposed to the concerted 

 
material facts, making false or fraudulent statements or representations, or creating or using any 
writing knowing it contains false or fraudulent statements. 
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efforts of PPD senior officers to employ the use of baseless rumors and insinuations as a means 

to oust Chief McAlister.  Officer Fraley was understood throughout the Department to be 

generally supportive of Chief McAlister’s efforts to modernize the Department.  

50. Officer Fraley became aware of a particular rumor being circulated by Sergeant 

McDaniel among Department personnel and related circles, that Chief McAlister was involved in 

an ongoing adulterous affair with another Town employee.  Sergeant McDaniel was Officer 

Fraley’s direct supervisor and one of the PPD senior officers opposed to Chief McAlister’s 

efforts to reform the Department. Officer Fraley knew the rumor to be false and knew it was 

being disseminated for the sole purpose of undermining Chief McAlister’s authority and integrity 

and to cause harm to her professional reputation.  

51. McDaniel refer to the Town employee with whom he alleged McAlister was 

having an affair, a male, as being “the bitch’s boy toy,” and stated that “every woman needs a 

boy toy.”2  

52. McDaniel thought of this male employee as McAlister’s secretary and stated that 

the roles should be reversed because the woman should be the secretary.  

53. McDaniel stated that the Town “went from a black man to a woman [as Chief] 

and we need to take control of the [police] department.” 

54. Given that Officer Fraley’s superior was, in fact, Sergeant McDaniel, and that the 

other senior officers, including Acting Chief Schroeck, were openly advocating for Chief 

McAlister’s removal, Officer Fraley felt both morally and professionally obligated to report 

 
2 McDaniel referred to Chief McAlister as “that bitch” or “that woman.” Schroeck stated that he 
“hated the bitch.” 
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Sergeant McDaniel’s misconduct in his widespread circulation of this unfounded rumor and his 

comments about the Chief to the Town’s Human Resources Department. 

55. McDaniel’s behavior violated regulations of the Purcellville Police Department, 

to include Regulation A-7,  

1. Unbecoming Conduct - Personnel shall conduct themselves at all times, both on and 
off duty, in such a manner as to reflect most favorably on the Department. Unbecoming 
conduct shall include: any behavior which brings the Department into disrepute; or any 
behavior which reflects discredit upon an employee as a member of the Department; or 
any behavior which impairs the operation or efficiency of the Department. 
2. Immoral Conduct – Personnel shall maintain a level of moral conduct in their personal 
and business affairs, which is in keeping with the highest standards of the law 
enforcement profession. Personnel shall not participate in any incident involving moral 
turpitude, which impairs their ability to perform their duties or causes the Department to 
be brought into disrepute. 
 
56. Violation of Purcellville Police Department regulations subjects an officer to 

discipline up to and including termination.  

57. Further, PPD Regulations required Officer Fraley to report “any and all facts 

pertaining to the matter to the attention of a superior.” PPD Regulation A-5.  

58. Officer Fraley was aware of the Town’s recent retention of Ms. Nuckolls as a 

human resources consultant and believed that she was hired to conduct an independent review, 

on the Town’s behalf, of the complaints of PPD’s senior staff.  Officer Fraley was unaware that 

Ms. Nuckolls was in fact retained by Mr. Vanegas and the Town to perform an outcome-

determinative investigation of Chief McAlister.  Officer Fraley was also unaware of the extent to 

which Mr. Vanegas had already been working with the senior members of the Department, 

including Sergeant McDaniel, to terminate Chief McAlister. 

59. Therefore, on October 6, 2017, Officer Fraley naively and in good faith initiated a 

meeting with Mr. Vanegas and Ms. Nuckolls to report Sergeant McDaniel’s misconduct. During 

this meeting, Officer Fraley disclosed to Mr. Vanegas and Ms. Nuckolls his full understanding of 
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the nature of the rumor regarding Chief McAlister, the statements McDaniel had made about and 

concerning Chief McAlister, the motives of the persons involved in concocting and spreading the 

rumor, and his knowledge of Sergeant McDaniel’s active role in its dissemination.  Officer 

Fraley was thanked by Mr. Vanegas and Ms. Nuckolls for bringing the matter to their attention 

and was advised that there would be a follow up meeting soon scheduled. 

60. Immediately thereafter, upon information and belief, Mr. Vanegas and Ms. 

Nuckolls consulted with Acting Chief Schroeck, and Sergeant McDaniel regarding Officer 

Fraley’s report of Sergeant McDaniel’s actions.  The four of them acknowledged that, if his 

allegations were found to be substantiated and became public, Sergeant McDaniel’s involvement 

in proliferating the malicious rumor would undermine their efforts to remove Chief McAlister.  

61. Vanegas, Nuckolls, Schroeck, and McDaniel conspired, combined, and agreed 

that Officer Fraley must be immediately publicly discredited and removed from duty as a PPD 

law enforcement officer as soon as possible. See Emails between Nuckolls and Schroeck with 

subject “IA Case” attached hereto as Exhibit 8.  

INTERNAL AFFAIRS INVESTIGATION OF OFFICER FRALEY 

62. Ms. Nuckolls, Mr. Vanegas, Acting Chief Schroeck, and Sergeant McDaniel 

agreed that the most efficient way to remove and discredit Officer Fraley would be to quickly 

open and secure a finding in a Department internal affairs investigation on Officer Fraley (the 

“Fraley Investigation”).   

63. To that end, and as Exhibit 8 demonstrates, Vanegas, Nuckolls, Shroeck, and 

McDaniel conspired, combined, and agreed to open an internal affairs investigation regarding 

Officer Fraley’s witness testimony in the prior internal affairs investigations of the two officers 

who were ultimately terminated from the Department during Chief McAlister’s tenure: Officer 
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Hood and Officer Dinkins. Discrediting and terminating Officer Fraley upon these pretexts 

would also create an opportunity to reinstate in the future one of the officers, Officer Hood, back 

into the Department. Officer Hood’s wife was Mr. Vanegas’s assistant.  See email from 

Nuckolls to Hood attached hereto as Exhibit 9. 

64. To assist the  investigation, Mr. Vanegas, Ms. Nuckolls, Acting Chief Schroeck, 

and Sergeant McDaniel sought the services of a polygraph examiner in the hopes that a 

polygraph examination might indicate some sign of deception, which they could point to as a 

basis for dishonesty, and therefore, use as a basis to terminate Officer Fraley’s employment.  

65. Ultimately, Ms. Nuckolls secured the services of Daryl DeBow, a licensed 

polygrapher with Nova Poly and with whom she was familiar with as a result of her contacts 

with other law enforcement agencies in Loudoun County.  She advised Mr. DeBow of the 

‘allegations’ against Officer Fraley and of her desire for the examination to produce a report 

reflecting some indicia of deceptiveness.  

66. Mr. DeBow agreed to participate in the Fraley Investigation.  He further agreed to 

produce a report reflecting the desired finding of deceptiveness so requested by Ms. Nuckolls, 

even if doing so would ultimately require him to issue a report inconsistent with the actual test 

results.  Upon information and belief, it is understood that Mr. DeBow’s assent to these actions 

were, in part, a quid pro quo byproduct of a sexual relationship he had with Ms. Nuckolls.   

67. Mr. DeBow and Nova Poly are nongovernmental entities that provided a service 

to the Town, at the behest of Ms. Nuckolls and with Mr. Vanegas’ approval, in exchange for 

which they received monetary compensation. As such, the Procurement Act applied to the 

acquisition of Mr. DeBow and Nova Poly for the contracted-for polygraph examination of 

Officer Fraley. However, the Town, by and through the actions of Mr. Vanegas and Ms. 
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Nuckolls, failed or refused to comply with several provisions of the Procurement Act, including 

but not limited to the failure to issue a public notice of the Town’s contract for a polygrapher and 

lack of any competitive negotiation or sealed bidding process.   

68. Meanwhile, shortly after having made his initial report of Sergeant McDaniel’s 

misconduct, Officer Fraley went on bereavement leave following the loss of his grandmother on 

October 10, 2017.  Officer Fraley’s leave status was made known to Ms. Nuckolls, Mr. Vanegas, 

Sergeant McDaniel, and Acting Chief Schroeck, and it was reasonably understood that this was a 

significant emotional loss for Officer Fraley. See PPD email attached hereto as Exhibit 10.  

69. Notwithstanding, now having secured Mr. DeBow’s commitment to assist in the 

Fraley Investigation, on the evening of the day in which Officer Fraley went on bereavement 

leave, Ms. Nuckolls advised Officer Fraley that she had “carved out time” for him to meet with 

her at 11:00am on October 12, 2017 at the Town Hall (the “Town Hall Meeting”).  See email 

from Nuckolls to Fraley attached hereto as Exhibit 11.  Officer Fraley was still unaware of 

the ulterior motives of Ms. Nuckolls and Mr. Vanegas and agreed to come in during his 

bereavement leave to meet for what he understood to be a simple follow-up to their October 6, 

2017 conversation pertaining to Sergeant McDaniel’s misconduct.  

70. In anticipation of the meeting, the Town’s agents wanted to limit the availability 

of any tangible evidence showing the events of the Town Hall Meeting.  Thus, Mr. Vanegas, in 

his capacity as Interim Town Manager, ordered that the video surveillance system for the 

conference room and parts of the Town Hall where the meeting was scheduled to take place be 

blocked and restricted.  See email from Vanegas attached hereto as Exhibit 12.  

71. In advance of the meeting McDaniel prepared a Relief of Duty memorandum to 

present to Fraley after DeBow conducted the polygraph examination: Vanegas, Nuckolls, 
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Schroeck, and McDaniel predetermined that the outcome of the polygraph examination would be 

to place Fraley on leave while his proposed termination was being considered by Schroeck.  

72. Officer Fraley appeared as scheduled for the Town Hall Meeting, still expecting 

the meeting to be a follow-up to the earlier meeting regarding Sergeant McDaniel’s misconduct.   

73. Nuckolls directed Fraley to a conference room.  

74. However, upon entering the room he immediately was confronted with McDaniel 

– the very person about whom he had complained to Nuckolls, seated across the table. Nuckolls 

took up a position to Fraley’s right.  

75. McDaniel directed Fraley to sit down and immediately advised Fraley that the 

true purpose of the meeting was an internal affairs investigation opened on Fraley concerning his 

statements in the prior IA investigation that led to the termination of Dinkins and Hood. See 

Notification of Investigation attached hereto as Exhibit 13.   

76. McDaniel to order Fraley to undergo a polygraph examination and stated that if 

Fraley refused then he would immediately be terminated.  

77. Fraley complied because he could not afford to lose his job; he needed the income 

to support his family and he needed the health insurance provided by his employment with the 

Town especially because the insurance covered his son who suffered from a birth defect which at 

that time was contributing to severe respiratory issues for the son requiring extensive medical 

intervention.  

78. Upon threat of termination Fraley complied with McDaniel’s direction and 

remained in the room.  

79. Then, DeBow entered the room and stood over Fraley’s right shoulder between 

Fraley and the door exiting the room.  
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80. DeBow directed Fraley to stand up.  

81. McDaniel also stood up and walked around the table to stand between Fraley and 

the exit door: Fraley would have had to go through DeBow (a former police officer) and 

McDaniel, a police officer and Fraley’s supervisor, to exit the room, refuse to undergo the 

polygraph examination and be fired.  

82. McDaniel directed Fraley to give him his duty weapon, which Fraley did. 3  

83. Then, DeBow, who remained standing between Fraley and the door, put his hands 

on Fraley and removed from Fraley’s person his automobile keys, mobile phone, wallet and 

knife, and placed the items on the table.  

84. DeBow then took Fraley’s police badge from where it was clipped to his belt, 

stated that “he does not need this,” and gave the badge to McDaniel.  

85. Fraley reasonably believed he was not free to leave without suffering the severe 

consequence of being terminated from his employment.  

DeBow then led Fraley to the second floor to another room where he administered the polygraph 

examination.  

86. During the performance of the polygraph examination, DeBow asked questions of 

Officer Fraley that were ambiguous and specifically intended to induce a certain level of 

uncertainty in his answers. 

 
3 On October 11, 2017, the day before the Town Hall Meeting was to take place, Sergeant 
McDaniel directed Officer Fraley to carry his Department-issued firearm on his person at all 
times within Town limits, regardless of whether he was on light-duty status.  Sergeant 
McDaniel’s order was inconsistent with previous orders given to similarly situated officers and 
was issued to Officer Fraley for the purpose of ensuring that he would bring his Department-
issued firearm to the Town Hall Meeting so that it could be confiscated.   

Case 1:19-cv-01645-LO-JFA   Document 57   Filed 06/22/20   Page 18 of 49 PageID# 745



 19 

87. These efforts, including the timing of the examination during his bereavement 

leave, were taken in a direct effort to unnerve Officer Fraley and to induce examination results 

showing indications of avoidance and/or evasiveness by Officer Fraley. 

88. At the conclusion of the polygraph examination, Mr. DeBow advised Ms. 

Nuckolls that Officer Fraley had shown signs of deception in the examination.  Upon hearing 

Mr. DeBow’s findings, Ms. Nuckolls directed Sergeant McDaniel to present Officer Fraley with 

the previously prepared Relief of Duty Notice.  See Relief of Duty Memorandum attached 

hereto as Exhibit 14. McDaniel advised Officer Fraley that he was now suspended from duty 

and that McDaniel would be forwarding a recommendation of termination to Acting Chief 

Schroeck.  

89. McDaniel further advised Fraley that he was required to keep confidential all 

aspects of the internal affairs investigation. Alsol see notice of investigation, Exhibit 13, at p. 2.  

90. In fact, the results of Mr. DeBow’s polygraph examination of Officer Fraley 

showed no signs of deception. Nevertheless, Mr. DeBow’s report of these results instead 

reflected his pre-existing agreement with Ms. Nuckolls and the Town to create a mechanism by 

which Town officials could discredit Officer Fraley’s integrity, honesty, and reputation as a law 

enforcement officer.  Mr. DeBow’s report initial oral report and subsequent written report 

intentionally misrepresented the results of the polygraph examination and failed to meet the 

professional standards promulgated by the Virginia Department of Professional and 

Occupational Regulation regarding polygraph examiners licensed in Virginia. 

91. Evidence of the personal relationship between Mr. DeBow and Ms. Nuckolls was 

captured by the Town Hall elevator surveillance system only minutes after the conclusion of the 
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Town Hall Meeting. See elevator surveillance photos attached hereto as Exhibits 15a and 

15b.   

92. Procedurally, the Fraley Investigation was fatally flawed and non-compliant with 

multiple PPD General Orders, including that Ms. Nuckolls was not a law enforcement officer; 

Sergeant McDaniel, who was the subject of an internal complaint by Officer Fraley, was named 

lead investigator for the investigation; Officer Fraley was neither interviewed nor given an 

opportunity to provide a written or recorded statement; and any notices of suspension could only 

be issued by Acting Chief Schroeck.  

93. Further, the decision to place Officer Fraley on administrative leave was done in 

specific violation of Va. Code Ann. § 40.1-51.4:4(B), which states that no employee of a law 

enforcement agency in Virginia may be subject to an adverse employment decision or 

discrimination based solely upon the results of a polygraph examination.   

94. Further still, in conducting the Fraley Investigation, Mr. Vanegas, Ms. Nuckolls, 

Sergeant McDaniel, and Acting Chief Schroeck intentionally, willfully, and wantonly violated 

and disregarded Officer Fraley’s rights established by the Law-Enforcement Officers Procedural 

Guarantee Act, codified at Va. Code Ann. §§ 9.1-500, et seq. (the “Police Bill of Rights”) and 

Chapter 152 of the PPD General Orders Manual, in addition to Virginia’s Fraud and Abuse 

Whistle Blower Protection Act, codified at Va. Code Ann. §§ 2.2-3009, et seq. 

95. Notwithstanding such known and obvious infirmities of the investigation, Officer 

Fraley was suspended pending termination and directed to await a forthcoming Notice for 

Termination from Acting Chief Schroeck. 
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POST-SUSPENSION EFFORTS BY THE TOWN 

96. Immediately following Officer Fraley’s suspension, the Town’s agents 

collaborated to ensure that news of Officer Fraley’s pending termination would be rapidly 

published throughout the Loudoun County judicial system, including the Courts and the 

Loudoun County Commonwealth’s Attorney. 

97. As a result, the Commonwealth’s Attorney and the Courts publicly nolle 

prosequied entire dockets involving Officer Fraley’s cases. 

98. Additionally, the Town’s agents were aware that the allegations of Officer 

Fraley’s ‘untruthfulness’ would trigger a direct responsibility by the Commonwealth Attorney’s 

office to highlight all of Officer Fraley’s reports as “Brady material.”  As a result, criminal 

defense attorneys who had matters pending with or involving Officer Fraley received affirmative 

disclosures from the Commonwealth Attorney’s office as to the then-pending accusations against 

Officer Fraley.  See emails from Loudoun County Commonwealth’s Attorney’s Office 

attached hereto as Exhibit 16. 

99. The widespread circulation of Officer Fraley’s suspension from the Department 

due to his supposed untruthfulness resulted in public motions and Sergeant McDaniel being 

subpoenaed to testify as to the allegations against Officer Fraley at a hearing for a defendant 

charged with felony DWI, the defendant’s sixth such charge in ten years.  

100. The rumors that Officer Fraley was to be terminated due to questions related to 

his honesty and integrity resonated through the entire Loudoun County law enforcement 

community.  As they continued to circulate, questions of his integrity and capacity to serve as a 

law enforcement officer spread into law enforcement agencies in other jurisdictions, including 

his home jurisdiction of Frederick County, Virginia. 

Case 1:19-cv-01645-LO-JFA   Document 57   Filed 06/22/20   Page 21 of 49 PageID# 748



 22 

101. During the initial period related to Officer Fraley’s administrative leave, he 

attempted to transfer to another law enforcement agency.  However, he was unable to secure 

alternative employment due to his suspension and the ongoing rumors initiated and circulated by 

the Town’s agents pertaining to his integrity and fitness as a law enforcement officer.  Officer 

Fraley was subsequently advised that these rumors, discussion of the ongoing internal affairs 

investigation against him, and his current placement on administrative leave from the 

Department were so public that they would likely complicate and impede his receiving a 

favorable hiring decision from any other law enforcement agency. 

102. Procedurally, Officer Fraley’s formal notice of termination was to be presented to 

him by Acting Chief Schroeck after completion of the written Proposal for Termination 

(“Proposal”).  Acting Chief Schroeck delegated the drafting of the Proposal to Sergeant 

McDaniel, despite his having been the subject of Officer Fraley’s complaint just days earlier.  

103. Consistent with the previous efforts to ensure Officer Fraley’s termination and 

undermine his professional reputation and credibility, Sergeant McDaniel did willfully and 

maliciously write into the Proposal multiple misrepresentations and falsehoods relating to 

Officer Fraley’s work performance and integrity.  Sergeant McDaniel even went so far as to 

falsify the details of a call for service to which Officer Fraley responded, in order to present 

Officer Fraley in a negative light.  The insertion of such false and misrepresentative narratives 

into an official police record reflects the specific, malicious intent of Sergeant McDaniel to 

defame Office Fraley’s reputation and his commitment to terminate Chief McAlister.4 

 
4  Ultimately, the Proposal was never presented to Officer Fraley by Acting Chief Schroeck due 
to the Town suspending the termination proceedings against Officer Fraley after the investigative 
process had become exposed to the public. 

Case 1:19-cv-01645-LO-JFA   Document 57   Filed 06/22/20   Page 22 of 49 PageID# 749



 23 

REVELATIONS ABOUT MS. NUCKOLLS 

104. Soon after Officer Fraley was placed on leave pending his notice, Ms. Nuckolls 

formally released the results of her ‘investigation’ of Chief McAlister to Mr. Vanegas and the 

Town Council (the “Nuckolls Report”).  The Nuckolls Report included multiple distortions and 

misrepresentations.  As anticipated, the Report proved to be sufficient to form a basis for the 

Four Council Members’ termination of Chief McAlister.  On or about November 2, 2017, Chief 

McAlister faced a Vote of ‘No Confidence’ from the Town Council and was immediately 

terminated by Mr. Vanegas, acting in his capacity as Interim Town Manager. 

105. However, before Mr. Vanegas could follow through and respond to the Proposal 

for Termination regarding Officer Fraley, a fuller narrative of Ms. Nuckolls’ background and her 

‘investigation’ was revealed in various media outlets, including the fact that she had been 

convicted of multiple felonies, some or all of which were crimes of moral turpitude.  The reports 

of Ms. Nuckolls’ felony convictions and inquiry into the human resources experience and 

certifications claimed on her resume immediately brought further scrutiny of the conclusions in 

her Report.  Ultimately, public doubts were raised as to all of her efforts on behalf of the Town, 

including the termination of Chief McAlister, the suspension of Officer Fraley, and the other 

adverse employment decisions made against those Town employees who were on the written list 

of Mr. Vanegas and the Four Council Members. 

106. Publicly, and despite the previous efforts of at least the Four Council Members, 

the Town Council as a whole was left with no other choice but to respond to the media attention 

by ordering an investigation into the actions of Ms. Nuckolls and Mr. Vanegas, resulting in the 

termination of Ms. Nuckolls’ contract by November 17, 2017 and Mr. Vanegas being placed on 

administrative leave on November 21, 2017.  However, the Town Council’s actions also resulted 
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in Officer Fraley remaining on administrative suspension, as the Town halted the termination 

proceedings.  

107. Upon Ms. Nuckolls’ separation, she continued to publish false, defamatory 

statements regarding Officer Fraley in an effort to maintain some degree of credibility for her 

Report. See email from Nuckolls to Town Council attached hereto as Exhibit 17.  

Additionally, on or about November 21, 2017, the Loudoun Tribune, an online newspaper, 

published a defamatory article that included information directly from the confidential Fraley 

Investigation.  See Loudoun Tribune Article attached hereto as Exhibit 18.  The published 

information was confidential and had been improperly misappropriated, retained, and 

disseminated by Ms. Nuckolls. 

108. Notwithstanding the glaring defects and bias of the Fraley Investigation and Ms. 

Nuckolls’ termination, the Town failed to take any reasonable steps to restrict Ms. Nuckolls’ 

access to the sensitive and confidential PPD files, records of previous internal affairs 

investigations, and other police records.  Despite the Town being on notice that Ms. Nuckolls 

possessed such confidential information and that she was recklessly using the same, the Town 

took no affirmative steps to prevent the further dissemination of such confidential and 

damaging—though falsified—information. 

TOWN’S FOLLOW-UP INVESTIGATION 

109. At least as early as November 17, 2017, and evidenced by the Town’s termination 

of Ms. Nuckolls’ contract,  the Town leadership knew that all Ms. Nuckolls’ investigative efforts 

and findings, including those related to the Fraley Investigation, were wholly unreliable and 

could not rightfully be a basis for any employment decision, including the continued 

administrative suspension of Officer Fraley.  The Town had a duty to timely reinstate Officer 
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Fraley upon receiving knowledge that the Fraley Investigation was inherently flawed, baseless, 

and predicated upon such false and maliciously produced information. 

110. Notwithstanding this duty, rather than rescind his suspension and reinstate Officer 

Fraley to the Department, the Town continued to keep him on administrative leave.  This 

decision, without any clear direction given to the community at large, added to the law 

enforcement community’s confusion regarding the validity of the Fraley Investigation’s findings, 

especially in light of the then-active efforts by Sergeant McDaniel and Ms. Nuckolls to further 

defame and harm Officer Fraley’s reputation. 

111. On November 21, 2017, the Town issued a news release which indicated that it 

was in the process of retaining another independent investigator, this time to audit and evaluate 

Mr. Vanegas’ actions taken in his capacity as Interim Town Manager. See Purcellville News 

Release attached hereto as Exhibit 19. 

112. The Town Council secured the law firm of Wilson Elser Moskowitz Edelman & 

Dicker LLP (“Wilson Elser”) to act as an independent auditor and investigator into the actions of 

Mr. Vanegas and Ms. Nuckolls.  Wilson Elser’s Audit and Investigation Report (“Wilson Elser 

Report”) was deliberate and thorough, and took months to draft and produce. Phase 1 of the 

Wilson Elser Report was not released to the public until April 10, 2018.  The Wilson Elser 

Report confirmed that all actions taken by Ms. Nuckolls were fatally flawed, both procedurally 

and substantively (see Public Report: Phase 1 attached hereto as Exhibit 6). 

113. The Town had notice of the information contained in Phase I of the Wilson Elser 

Report prior to its April 10 release date.  Despite the findings set forth therein, the Town 

continued unnecessarily to keep Officer Fraley on administrative leave, again affirmatively 
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disregarding its duty to timely reinstate him to the PPD and to not unduly delay such 

reinstatement.  

114. As a direct result of the Town’s failure to promptly cure Officer Fraley’s 

wrongful suspension, rumors regarding his credibility, integrity, and performance as a law 

enforcement officer continued to circulate in the community and tacitly gave credence to the 

findings of the Fraley Investigation and Ms. Nuckolls’ subsequent defamatory allegations 

regarding Officer Fraley.  

115. Wilson Elser released Phase II of their Report on July 31, 2019.  Soon thereafter, 

on August 1, 2018, the Town reinstated Officer Fraley to his previous position within the 

Department.  However, the Town’s 10-month delay in reinstating Officer Fraley after notice that 

the Fraley Investigation was predicated upon the fatally flawed findings by Ms. Nuckolls was 

unjustifiable.  The delay amounted to a breach of the Town’s duty to mitigate the damage the 

Town caused by the initial suspension and resulted in Officer Fraley suffering further 

unnecessary harm to his professional reputation and prolonged his pain, suffering, and emotional 

distress.   

116. Furthermore, notwithstanding Wilson Elser’s findings and recommendations, 

including written proof that Sergeant McDaniel falsified information in the Fraley Investigation 

and of his malicious intent in so doing, the Town continued to employ Sergeant McDaniel in a 

supervisory role at PPD even upon Officer Fraley’s return.  Until Sergeant McDaniel left the 

Department of his own accord, Officer Fraley faced continual retribution in the workplace in the 

form of further harassment by Sergeant McDaniel, including further false allegations made by 

Sergeant McDaniel.  That members of the Department and other law enforcement officers bore 

witness to Sergeant McDaniel’s continued employment with the Town further undermined 
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Officer Fraley’s credibility and reputation by avouching Sergeant McDaniel’s accusations 

against him and calling into question Officer Fraley’s version of the events. 

INJURIES TO OFFICER FRALEY 

117. The actions of the Defendants herein have directly caused significant damage to 

Officer Fraley’s personal and professional reputations.  He was publicly and openly identified in 

court and throughout the judicial system and legal community as having been suspended and 

awaiting termination due to concerns regarding his credibility and candor.  The actions of the 

named Defendants did further damage his reputation, both directly and indirectly, in the law 

enforcement community, as evidenced by the inability of Officer Fraley to secure alternative 

employment during the pendency of the investigation.  

118. While suspended from the PPD Fraley applied for employment as a law 

enforcement officer with the Sheriff of Loudon County and the Sheriff of Frederick County. Had 

Fraley been hired by either Sheriff his pay would have exceeded his salary with the Town. Both 

Sheriffs refused to consider Fraley for hire due to the unfounded, pretextual internal affairs 

investigation opened by Vanegas, Nuckolls, Schroeck, and McDaniel.  

119. Several of the named Defendants participated in an active online effort to 

persistently cast doubt upon and question Officer Fraley’s credibility and reputation, and further 

sought to maliciously disseminate falsehoods and private information about Officer Fraley.  Such 

actions compounded the damage to Officer Fraley’s personal reputation and his emotional and 

mental distress. 

120. Moreover, the Town’s refusal to mitigate Officer Fraley’s damages through its 

refusal to reinstate him for a period of nearly 10 months – despite the known and obvious 

procedural and substantive infirmities associated with his internal affairs investigation—

Case 1:19-cv-01645-LO-JFA   Document 57   Filed 06/22/20   Page 27 of 49 PageID# 754



 28 

increased the damage to his professional and public reputation by lending credibility to an 

adverse employment decision that should otherwise have had none.  The Town’s decision not to 

reinstate Officer Fraley for 10 months was intentional, grossly negligent, and done with a 

reckless disregard for the further damage to his professional reputation and the emotional and 

physical consequences suffered by Officer Fraley and his family. 

121. While on leave Fraley was prevented from earning overtime pay, which prior 

thereto he regularly earned of approximately $1,000 per month, tpo include receiving overtime 

pay anytime he was required to appear in court because his permanent shift was nights, meaning 

daytime court appearances were overtime.5 

122. Fraley borrowed approximately $7,000 to account for his lost overtime income to 

pay bills and provide for his family; money that he has to pay back. He has not recouped the 

overtime he lost during his p[eriod of leave. 

123. The very public nature of the damage to the Officer Fraley’s reputation and 

credibility has and will continue to limit his ability to ply his trade and earn a living.  His ability 

to seek promotion within the PPD, and to seek employment from law enforcement agencies other 

than the Town will be forever compromised by the media coverage of the false allegations and 

by the damage to his public reputation.  As such, Officer Fraley’s marketability and, therefore, 

his future income, is impeded and he is unable to seek competitive compensation from third-

party agencies commensurate with his experience and capabilities. 

124. In addition to the damage to Officer Fraley’s professional and personal 

reputations and his loss of income, the Defendants’ actions were the proximate cause of both 
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emotional and physical injuries to Officer Fraley.  The Defendants’ collective actions resulted in 

unnecessary emotional and mental stress and job insecurity.  Consequently, Officer Fraley 

suffered insomnia and recurring nightmares, debilitating depression, suicidal ideations – telling 

his wife “I want to swallow my Sig [firearm]” and “I hope not to wake up in the morning,” abuse 

of alcohol – it was not uncommon for Fraley to consume 18 beers in an evening after marking 

off-duty from his perpetual, daytime on-call status, and became prone to uncharacteristic bouts 

of anxiety and anger.  In an attempt to cope with the untenable mental and emotional strain, he 

engaged in behaviors that ultimately induced physical injury.6   

125. Fraley would act out with physical violence in seeking to cope with the persistent 

refusal to return him to work, such as punching inanimate objects, breaking furniture, yelling at 

his children for no reasons, wildly cursing for no apparent reason.  

126. Fraley’s behavior was severe enough that on multiple occasions his wife sought to 

remove their children and herself from their marital home for fear of his continuing behavior.  

127. The Town imposed on Fraley while on leave an on-call schedule in violation of 

the Town’s employment policy. The Town required that Fraley be subject to call out during day 

shift without regard to a lunch break and with only a one (1) hour advanced call. The Town’s 

policy requires that employees in an on-call status like Fraley be subject to a 24-hour advanced 

notice. Consequently, Fraley lived everyday subject to a perpetual one (1) hour call-out, and he 

lived nearly a one (1) hour drive from Purcellville.  

 
5 Due to the unfounded and pretextual internal affairs investigation and the false and malicious 
rumors and statements spread by one or more of the Defendants more than 30 criminal cases in 
which Fraley was a witness were nolle prossed.  
6 Moreover, due to the confidentiality imposed upon him as part of the internal affairs 
investigation, and specifically reiterated to him by McDaniel in text messages, Fraley reasonably 
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128. Moreover, the Defendants’ conduct and Officer Fraley’s ensuing emotional 

distress caused his physical condition to deteriorate and ultimately led to him having to seek 

medical intervention for the same.  Namely, Officer Fraley experienced significantly elevated 

blood pressure; Fraley normal blood pressure average120/80, but while on leave and under 

investigation even after being prescribed medication, i.e., Norvasc, Fraley’s blood pressure 

remained at 200/115.  Despite his diligent efforts to minimize the physical manifestations of this 

mental and emotional distress, at present, Officer Fraley continues to receive ongoing medical 

treatment for his elevated blood pressure, culminating in Fraley taking approximately 30 days of 

leave from the PPD in August and September 2019 to try and resolve the chronic elevated blood 

pressure.  

129. The infliction of such significant emotional and mental distress upon Officer 

Fraley directly resulted in further injury by and through his alienation from friends and family 

members for the period of time during which he was suspended from duty, including but not 

limited to loss of affection with his wife and young children.  

130. Fraley hired legal counsel to advise and represent him in the internal affairs 

investigation, and in the resulting investigation conducted by Wilson Esler, and to seek Fraley’s 

reinstatement as a police officer with the Town. Fraley incurred legal fees and costs in excess of 

$100,000 for that representation.  

SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY 

131. The Town is not entitled to the protection of sovereign immunity from liability 

arising out of its performance of proprietary acts, nor should the doctrine of  sovereign immunity 

 
believed he was unable to consult with anyone, including mental health professionals, about his 
ordeal.  
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shield the municipality from liability for specific Town policies that are otherwise unlawful or 

implemented for the specific purpose to engage in intentional misconduct.  The Town is entitled 

to immunity only for instances in which their agents and employees were engaged in traditional 

governmental functions.  However, the actions of Mr. Vanegas and his co-conspirators were not 

tied to the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the Town of Purcellville.  Indeed, their 

actions were taken in response to a distinct Town policy to intentionally defame the professional 

reputation of Officer Fraley, independent of any legitimate Town interest.  Nor were the actors 

engaged in a valid exercise of the Town’s political, discretionary, or legislative authority.  

Instead, the Defendants’ behavior, conduct, and decisions were unlawful and made decidedly 

outside and without legitimate authority.  As such, this conduct was not an exercise of any valid 

governmental function.   

132. Immunity is not afforded to employees of the municipality who participated in a 

policy intending to injure or cause harm to others, and there is no sovereign immunity available 

to a municipality’s independent contractors or subcontractors. Thus, none of the named 

Defendants are entitled to any measure of immunity for their unlawful, improper, and illegal 

conduct.  

133. Officer Fraley has fully complied with the provisions of Va. Code Ann. § 15.2-

209 by providing the Town written notice of the nature of his negligence claims, which included 

the time and place where the acts complaint of took place.   See Notice to Town attached 

hereto as Exhibit 20.  
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COUNT I – NEGLIGENT HIRING AND RETENTION OF GEORGIA NUCKOLLS 
(DEFENDANTS TOWN AND VANEGAS7) 

 
134. Officer Fraley incorporates the foregoing as though fully set forth herein.   

135. The Town Charter dictates that the Town manager has the exclusive power to 

appoint and remove all employees and officers of the municipality determined by the Town 

Council to be necessary for the Town’s administration. See Purcellville Town Charter § 5-3.  As 

Interim Town Manager during all times relevant hereto, Mr. Vanegas was vested with the power 

described above.  

136. Mr. Vanegas, both individually and in his capacity as the Town’s representative, 

through gross negligence and willful indifference to both the established Town guidelines, 

provisions set forth in the Procurement Act, and the actual occupational demands of his position, 

hired, appointed, and retained Ms. Nuckolls, a uniquely unqualified and unfit individual to 

represent the Town’s interests related to personnel decisions, placing her in a position from 

which she posed an unreasonable risk of harm to others.  

137. Mr. Vanegas did so after consultation with and approval from the Four Council 

Members, each of whom was aware of the role and purpose of Ms. Nuckolls’ retention, being 

part of a larger plan to terminate Chief McAlister from employment using all available remedies, 

and potentially re-define and/or eliminate the scope of the Purcellville Police Department. 

138. Had Mr. Vanegas and, by extension, the Town, performed a reasonable 

investigation into Ms. Nuckolls’ background, criminal history, or her purported qualifications 

and certifications, and not knowingly and willfully violated the provisions of the Procurement 

 
7 Fraley acknowledges that the Court’s Order, ECF Doc. 56, held that Vanegas “is not a 
cognizable tortfeasor” under Count I, but maintains this Count as to Vanegas to maintain his 
right to appeal the Court’s decision as to Vanegas in Count I. Order at 3.  
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Act, a more qualified candidate for the vacant position would have been secured.  Considering 

the stated intention behind the hiring of Ms. Nuckolls, it was plainly foreseeable that she would 

pose a threat of harm to others if she were appointed as the Town’s sole human resources 

contractor charged with conducting an investigation of complaints against Chief McAlister by 

PPD senior officers. 

139. Further, the Town failed and refused to exercise any reasonable care in hiring or 

appointing Ms. Nuckolls to serve in a position in which—due to the nature of the position and 

the particular circumstances of her employment with the Town, and in light of her prior felony 

convictions for fraud, larceny, and forgery, and her blatantly falsified resume—it was readily 

foreseeable that she posed a threat of injury to others, specifically to other PPD employees.   

140. Similarly, the Town acted with gross negligence and willful misconduct in its 

retention of Ms. Nuckolls as an independent contractor and/or employee after it became apparent 

that she was unfit and unwilling to responsibly perform the legitimate duties and responsibilities 

assigned to her pursuant to her terms of contract with the Town. 

141. The Town’s grossly negligent hiring and retention of Ms. Nuckolls was a direct 

and proximate cause of the injuries sustained by Officer Fraley as—had the Town exercised 

reasonable care in hiring or appointing an individual to the position ultimately occupied by Ms. 

Nuckolls—Officer Fraley would not have suffered the harm complained of herein. 

142. In consideration of the foregoing, the aggravated nature of the conduct entitles the 

Plaintiff to judgment as to each Defendant in the form of punitive damages. 

WHEREFORE, KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY moves this Court for judgment as 

follows:  
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A. One million dollars ($1,000,000.00) in compensatory damages, jointly and 

severally; 

B. Three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000.00) in punitive damages; and 

C. Court costs incurred in filing this action. 

COUNT II – STATUTORY CONSPIRACY 
(ALL DEFENDANTS)  

 
(Fraley declines to re-allege Count II – Statutory Conspiracy, but seeks to preserve his 

right to appeal as to this Count.) 

 
COUNT III – COMMON LAW CONSPIRACY 

(ALL DEFENDANTS) 
 

143. Officer Fraley realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if full set forth herein. 

144. Mr. Vanegas, Ms. Nuckolls, Acting Chief Schroeck, Sergeant McDaniel, and Mr. 

DeBow acted, each in their own capacity and for their own separate and independent benefit, to 

engage in a concerted, intentional, and malicious effort to seek termination of Officer Fraley. 

145. The Town, through Mr. Vanegas in his capacity as Interim Town Manager and in 

furtherance of the directions from the Four Council Members, acted in concert with the above 

named individuals, to engage in a concerted, intentional, and malicious effort to damage the 

professional reputation of Officer Fraley, and did in fact ratify the actions of Mr. Vanegas and 

the other agents of the Town who did participate in the conspiracy. 

146. Mr. DeBow, at all times relevant herein, was an agent and employee of Nova 

Poly.  As a result, Nova Poly is jointly and severally liable for damages to Officer Fraley 

resulting from the unlawful conspiracy. 

147. All the Defendants engaged in multiple acts as part of a distinct conspiracy to 

damage the professional reputation of Officer Fraley. 
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148. Vanegas, Nuckolls, Schroeck, McDaniel, and DeBow were aware of and agreed 

with the conspiracy to discredit and ultimately terminate Fraley, as may be reasonably inferred 

from Exhibit 8 hereto.  

149. Nuckolls, McDaniel, and DeBow sprung an internal affairs investigation on 

Fraley while Fraley was mourning the death of his grandmother, on the pretext of further 

interviewing Fraley about his complaint to Nuckolls and Vanegas concerning McDanial.  

150. Vanegas, Nuckolls, Schroeck, McDaniel, and DeBow used DeBow’s false report 

of deception shown in the polygraph examination to propose Fraley’s termination, in violation of 

Va. Code Ann. § 40.1-51.4:4(B).  

151. In addition to violation of Va. Code Ann. § 40.1-51.4:4(B); falsifying the results 

of a polygraph examination; using the results of a polygraph examination for an unlawful 

purpose; Defendants Town, Vanegas, and Nuckolls also improperly bypassed Town procurement 

policies; violating the Virginia Public Procurement Act, including but not limited to certain 

provisions of Article 6 therein. 

152. The actions of Nuckolls, McDaniel and DeBow, as approved of by Vanegas and 

Schroeck, violated the Police Bill of Rights, Va. Code Ann. 9.1-500, et. seq., namely by not 

giving Fraley (1) “notified in writing of all charges, the basis therefor, and the action which may 

be taken;” (2) “an opportunity, within a reasonable time limit after the date of the written notice 

provided for above, to respond orally and in writing to the charges. … [I]n no event shall it be 

less than five calendar days unless agreed to by the law-enforcement officer;” and (3) permitting 

Fraley to “be assisted by counsel … .” Va. Code Ann. 9.1-502.  

153. McDaniel, with the agreement of Vanegas, Nuckolls, and Schroeck, created false 

reports in investigative reports and police investigations; and Nuckolls, McDaniel, and DeBow, 
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with ther agreement of Vanegas and Schroeck, fabricated evidence; falsified testimony; 

misrepresented and distorted facts designed to conceal misconduct; and, otherwise sought 

Officers Fraley’s termination for reasons contrary to public policy. 

154. These collective actions were taken to further the separate, unique, individual and 

political goals of the Town, the Four Council Members, Mr. Vanegas, Acting Chief Schroeck, 

Sergeant McDaniel, Ms. Nuckolls, and Mr. DeBow; and, that the Defendants did intentionally 

seek to utilize such improper and illegal actions to publicly discredit Officer Fraley in pursuing 

those goals, irreparably harming his professional reputation so as to terminate him from 

employment with PPD.  

155. McDaniel’s false reports violate regulations of the Purcellville Police Department, 

to include A-7,  

1. Unbecoming Conduct - Personnel shall conduct themselves at all times, both on and 
off duty, in such a manner as to reflect most favorably on the Department. Unbecoming 
conduct shall include: any behavior which brings the Department into disrepute; or any 
behavior which reflects discredit upon an employee as a member of the Department; or 
any behavior which impairs the operation or efficiency of the Department. 
2. Immoral Conduct – Personnel shall maintain a level of moral conduct in their personal 
and business affairs, which is in keeping with the highest standards of the law 
enforcement profession. Personnel shall not participate in any incident involving moral 
turpitude, which impairs their ability to perform their duties or causes the Department to 
be brought into disrepute. 

 
156. These actions directly resulted in the aforesaid damages to Officer Fraley, to 

which each of the above-named Defendants are individually and jointly liable. 

157. Additionally, each of the Defendants actions are willful and malicious, and the 

Plaintiff is entitled to judgment as to each in the form of punitive damages. 

WHEREFORE, KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY moves this Court for judgment as follows:  

A. One million dollars ($1,000,000.00) in compensatory damages, jointly and 

severally; 
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B. Three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000.00) in punitive damages; and 

C. Court costs incurred in filing this action. 

COUNT IV – TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT 
(DEFENDANTS VANEGAS, NUCKOLLS,  McDANIEL,  

SCHROECK, DeBOW, and NOVA POLY) 
 

 (Fraley declines to re-allege Count IV – Tortious Interference with Employment 

Contract, but seeks to preserve his right to appeal as to this Count.) 

COUNT V – VIOLATION OF VIRGINIA CODE § 2.2-3011 
(DEFENDANT TOWN) 

 
158. Officer Fraley realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if full set forth herein. 

159. The Fraud and Abuse Whistle Blower Protection Act, codified at Va. Code Ann. 

§§ 2.2-3009, et seq., provides, in part, that it is the policy of the Commonwealth that employees 

of governmental agencies are able to report incidents of wrongdoing or abuse committed by 

governmental agencies or their independent contractors, and that it is unlawful for a 

governmental agency to discriminate or retaliate against an employee of said agency who makes 

a good faith report of or testifies to acts of wrongdoing or abuse committed by the agency or 

another agency employee.  

160. Fraley reported violation of PPD Regulation A-7, conduct unbecoming, with 

regard to McDaniel, Dinkins and Hood.  

161. Conduct unbecoming, pursuant to PPD Regulations can subject an officer to 

discipline up to and including termination; such violations are serious offenses.8  

162. Conduct unbecoming constitutes wrongdoing pursuant to the Fraud and Abuse 

Whistleblower Protection Act.  
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163. Defendant Town, through the actions of Vanegas, Nuckolls, Schroeck, McDaniel, 

and DeBow, retaliated against Fraley for reporting wrongdoing.  

164. As a result of Defendants’ retaliatory conduct Fraley suffered damages as set forth 

herein.  

165. In addition to such damages as identified and provided therein, Officer Fraley is 

entitled to the recovery of his attorney’s fees under Va. Code Ann. § 2.2-3011(D). 

WHEREFORE, KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY moves this Court for judgment as follows:  

A. One million dollars ($1,000,000.00) in compensatory damages, jointly and 

severally; 

B. Attorney’s fees incurred by the Plaintiff; and,  

C. Court costs incurred in filing this action. 

COUNT VI – INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 
(ALL DEFENDANTS) 

  
166.  Officer Fraley incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as though fully 

set forth herein.  

167. The actions of Defendants with regard to Fraley were intentional: they 

intentionally set out to discredit him, destroy his reputation and terminate his employment from 

the Town.  

168. The actions of Defendants was outrageous and intolerable: they sought to destroy 

the career and reputation of Officer Fraley as part of their overall scheme to get rid of Police 

Chief McAlister, despite Fraley’s role in the overall scheme being relatively minor; they went to 

 
8 In fact, the pretext used to propose Fraley’s termination by Defendants was conduct 
unbecoming, i.e., violation of Regulation A-7.  
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extraordinary means to get rid of a mere patrol officer, and their behavior demonstrates extreme 

disregard for the person and rights of Officer Fraley.  

169. Defendants’ actions are the proximate cause of Fraley’s damages alleged herein.  

170. Fraley’s resulting distress was severe.  

171. The egregious and outrageous nature of each Defendant’s conduct as described 

above entitles the Plaintiff to judgment as to each in the form of punitive damages. 

WHEREFORE, KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY moves this Court for judgment as follows:  

A. One million dollars ($1,000,000.00) in compensatory damages, jointly and 

severally; 

B. Three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000.00) in punitive damages; and 

C. Court costs incurred in filing this action. 

COUNT VII – GROSS NEGLIGENCE 
(DEFENDANTS DeBOW and NovaPoly) 

172. Officer Fraley realleges paragraphs 1 through 143 as if full set forth herein. 

173. Mr. DeBow is a polygraph examiner practicing in Virginia and is licensed and 

regulated by the Virginia Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation (“DPOR”). 

Pursuant to his DPOR licensure, Mr. DeBow is subject to the provisions and regulations set forth 

in the Code of Virginia § 54.1-1800, et. seq., and Title 18, Chapter 30 of the Virginia 

Administrative Code. 

174. Virginia Code § 54.1-1800, defines “polygraph examiner” as “any person who 

uses a polygraph to test or question individuals for the purpose of determining truthfulness.”  

175. 18 VAC 120-30-240 permits the Virginia Department of Professional 

Occupational Regulation to discipline a polygrapher for “professional incompetence or 

negligence in the performance of polygraphy.”  
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176. 18 VAC 120-30-220(F) permits “An examiner [to] render only three evaluations 

of polygraph tests: 

1. Deception indicated; 

2. No deception indicated; or 

3. Inconclusive.” 

177. “An examiner may make a hiring or retention recommendation for the examiner's 

employer provided the hiring or retention decision is not based solely on the results of the 

polygraph examination.” 18 VAC 120-30-220(H).  

178. Upon information and belief, at times relevant to this action, Mr. DeBow was a 

member of the Virginia Polygraph Association (“VPA”). The VPA’s Mission Statement states, 

in part, that: 

We are dedicated to providing the best in experienced training in the field of the 
polygraph. We are committed to the following goals: 
• Providing mankind with a valid and reliable means to verify the truth; 
• Serving the cause of truth with integrity, objectivity and fairness to all persons;  

…9 
 
179. Mr. DeBow is a member of the American Polygraph Association (“APA”). The 

APA’s Model Policy for the Evaluation of Examinee Suitability for Polygraph Testing (2012), 

viewed June 22, 2020, at 18:51, https://apoa.memberclicks.net/assets/docs/suitability% 

20model%20policy.pdf (the “Policy”).  

180. The Policy states, in part, that:  

Policies regarding the assessment of examinee suitability are intended to protect 
examinees from undergoing examinations for which there is no potential benefit to 
themselves or their communities, and to avoid expenditure of resources for examinations 
that may not contribute to the goals of an investigation, candidate screening, risk 
assessment or risk management. 

 
9 https://vapolygraph.org/, visited June 22, 2020, at 18:39 hours.  
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Policy at 1, ¶ 1. 

Examiners should conduct all examinations in a manner that is sensitive to any medical, 
mental health or developmental issues that may affect the examinee's functioning or the 
quality of the examination data. 
 

Id. at 2, ¶ 6.  

181. Moreover, in assisting in an internal affairs investigation for the PPD, DeBow had 

a duty to respect the constitutional and statutory rights of Fraley, and to not defraud Fraley, to 

not manipulate the testing of Fraley, and to not report fraudulent test results of Fraley’s 

polygraph examination.  

182. Mr. DeBow had a professional and fiduciary duty to apply his craft and expertise 

consistent with regulatory standards as to all examinees. 

183. DeBow intentionally disregarded the rights of Fraley and his duties as a polygraph 

examiner to accurately record and truthfully report the results of the polygraph examination.  

184. Mr. DeBow’s breach of those duties is a direct and proximate cause of Officer 

Fraley’s injuries and damages sustained to his personal and professional reputation, his legal 

fees, and diminished ability to seek employment at another law enforcement agency.  

185. Mr. DeBow’s actions were committed in bad faith, recklessly, willfully and 

wantonly, and with gross negligence.  

186. DeBow’s fraudulent behavior in testing Fraley has been confirmed through expert 

review of DeBow’s test charts.  

187. Mr. DeBow’s actions were conducted in the name of his corporation, Nova Poly, 

which is jointly and severally liable for all such actions.  

Case 1:19-cv-01645-LO-JFA   Document 57   Filed 06/22/20   Page 41 of 49 PageID# 768



 42 

188. The actions of Mr. DeBow and Nova Poly were grossly negligent, malicious, and 

conducted with a reckless disregard for the employment rights of the Officer Fraley. Therefore, 

the Plaintiff is entitled to judgment as to each in the form of punitive damages. 

WHEREFORE, KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY moves this Court for judgment as follows:  

A. One million dollars ($1,000,000.00) in compensatory damages, jointly and 

severally; 

B. Three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000.00) in punitive damages; and 

C. Court costs incurred in filing this action. 

COUNT VIII – FALSE IMPRISONMENT  
(ALL DEFENDANTS) 

189. Officer Fraley realleges foregoing paragraphs as if full set forth herein. 

190. Defendants Nuckolls, McDaniel, and DeBow restrained Officer Fraley’s liberty 

without sufficient legal excuse: Fraley was coerced to remain in the room with McDaniel, 

DeBow and Nuckolls, and to undergo the polygraph examination upon threat of immediate 

termination. 

191. Defendants Vanegas and Schroeck conspired with, directed, and/or implicitly 

approved of, Nuckolls, McDaniel, and DeBow depriving Officer Fraley of his liberty.  

192. Defendants Nuckolls, McDaniel, DeBow, Vanegas, and Schroeck acted as agents 

of Defendant Town of Purcellville, and therefore, the Town is responsible for their actions.  

193. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of the Defendants’ actions, Officer 

Fraley suffered harm.  

194. Defendants actions were willful and intentional, thereby justifying an award of 

punitive damages.  
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WHEREFORE, KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY moves this Court for judgment as 

follows:  

A. One million dollars ($1,000,000.00) in compensatory damages, jointly and 

severally; 

B. Three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000.00) in punitive damages;  

C. Court costs incurred in filing this action. 

COUNT IX – VIOLATION OF 14TH AMENDMENT  
LIBERTY INTEREST (BODILY INTEGRITY)  

(ALL DEFENDANTS) 

195. Officer Fraley realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if full set forth herein. 

196. The Defendants acted under color of law.  

197. Defendants Nuckolls, McDaniel, and DeBow restrained Officer Fraley’s liberty 

without sufficient legal excuse.  

198. Defendants Vanegas and Schroeck conspired with, directed, and/or implicitly 

approved of, Nuckolls, McDaniel, and DeBow depriving Officer Fraley of his liberty.  

199. Defendants’ behavior was outrageous, intolerable, and intentional.  

200. Fraley suffered medical injury in the form of severe emotional distress – to 

include suicidal ideations and abuse of alcohol, and high blood pressure requiring medical 

intervention.  

201. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of the Defendants’ actions, Officer 

Fraley suffered harm.  

202. Defendants actions were willful and intentional, thereby justifying an award of 

punitive damages.  
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203. The actions of Defendants violated Officer Fraley’s liberty interest in his bodily 

integrity under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States.  

204. Violation of rights secured by the Amendments to the U.S. Constitution are 

enforced through 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

205. The Constitutional rights of Officer Fraley at issue in this matter were clearly 

established, and, therefore, Defendants cannot avail themselves of qualified immunity. \ 

206. As Defendant Vanegas was the Acting Town Manager of Defendant Town and 

Defendant Schroeck was the Acting Police Chief, their decisions and actions constitute the 

actions, custom, and policy of Defendant Town, thereby subjecting it to liability for invasion of 

Officer Fraley’s bodily integrity.  

207. Defendants actions were willful and intentional, thereby justifying an award of 

punitive damages.  

WHEREFORE, KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY moves this Court for judgment as follows:  

A. One million dollars ($1,000,000.00) in compensatory damages, jointly and severally; 

B. Three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000.00) in punitive damages;  

C. His attorney’s fees and costs incurred to prosecute this action; and 

D. Court costs incurred in filing this action. 

COUNT X – VIOLATION OF 4TH AMENDMENT,  
ILLEGAL SEARCH AND SEIZURE 

(ALL DEFENDANTS) 

208. Officer Fraley realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if full set forth herein. 

209. The Defendants acted under color of law.  
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210. Nuckolls, McDaniel, and DeBow searched and seized Officer Fraley’s person 

without sufficient legal excuse: Debow put his hands on Fraley, searched his person, and 

removed his personal effects from his person.  

211. DeBow acted pursuant to the authority granted to him by Nuckolls (in her 

capacity as an HR contractor for the Town), and granted to him by McDaniel (in his capacity as 

a supervisory police officer of the Town).  

212. Nuckolls and McDaniel were present and approved of DeBow’s actions.  

213. Vanegas, Nuckolls, Schroeck, McDaniel, and DeBow subjected Fraley to a search 

in the form of a polygraph examination without sufficient legal excuse.  

214. Fraley did not consent to these searches: he was subjected to these searches upon 

threat of termination if he refused.  

215. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of the Defendants’ actions, Officer 

Fraley suffered harm.  

216. Defendants actions were willful and intentional, thereby justifying an award of 

punitive damages.  

217. The actions of Defendants violated Officer Fraley’s right to be free from 

unreasonable search and seizure under the Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of the United 

States.  

218. Violation of rights secured by the Amendments to the U.S. Constitution are 

enforced through 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

219. At all times material hereto, Defendants violated Officer Fraley’s constitutional 

rights intentionally and/or with reckless indifference, and they knew or should have known that 
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their actions violated federal law, so as to support an award of liquidated and/or punitive 

damages.  

220. As Defendant Vanegas was the Acting Town Manager of Defendant Town and 

Defendant Schroeck was the Acting Police Chief, their decisions and actions constitute the 

actions, custom, and policy of Defendant Town, thereby subjecting it to liability for the illegal 

search and seizure of Officer Fraley’s person.  

221. The Constitutional rights of Officer Fraley at issue in this matter were clearly 

established, and, therefore, Defendants cannot avail themselves of qualified immunity. 

WHEREFORE, KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY moves this Court for judgment as 

follows:  

A. One million dollars ($1,000,000.00) in compensatory damages, jointly and severally; 

B. Three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000.00) in punitive damages;  

C. His attorney’s fees and costs incurred to prosecute this action; and 

D. Court costs incurred in filing this action. 

 COUNT XI – VIOLATION OF 14TH AMENDMENT  
LIBERTY INTEREST (REPUTATION)  

(ALL DEFENDANTS) 
 

222. Officer Fraley realleges paragraphs 1 through 178 as if full set forth herein. 

223. The Defendants acted under color of law.  

224. Defendants conspired to, and in fact did act to harm the reputation, professional 

and personal, of Officer Fraley, to include harming and conspiring to harm his reputation for 

veracity.  

225. Fraley suffered financial loss in the form of lost overtime, and had to borrow 

money to pay his bills.  
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226. Fraley suffered loss of alternate employment and consequent increase in pay with 

two (2) other law enforcement agencies due to Defendants’ actions.  

227. The actions of Defendants violated Officer Fraley’s liberty interest in his 

reputation under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States.  

228. Violation of rights secured by the Amendments to the U.S. Constitution are 

enforced through 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

229. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of the Defendants herein, Officer 

Fraley suffered and will continue to suffer pecuniary loss, lost wages, emotional pain, suffering, 

inconvenience, mental anguish, loss of enjoyment of life, and other non-pecuniary loss.  

230. At all times material hereto, Defendants violated Officer Fraley’s constitutional 

rights intentionally and/or with reckless indifference, and they knew or should have known that 

their actions violated federal law, so as to support an award of liquidated and/or punitive 

damages.  

231. As Defendant Vanegas was the Acting Town Manager of Defendant Town and 

Defendant Schroeck was the Acting Police Chief, their decisions and actions constitute the 

actions, customs, and policies of Defendant Town, thereby subjecting it to liability for violation 

of Officer Fraley’s liberty interest in his reputation.  

232. The constitutional rights of Officer Fraley at issue in this matter were clearly 

established, and, therefore, Defendants cannot avail themselves of qualified immunity.  

WHEREFORE, KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY moves this Court for judgment as 

follows:  

A. One million dollars ($1,000,000.00) in compensatory damages, jointly and 

severally; 
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B. Three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000.00) in punitive damages;  

C. His attorney’s fees and costs incurred to prosecute this actions; and 

D. Court costs incurred in filing this action. 

COUNT XII – VIOLATION OF 14TH AMENDMENT  
PROPERTY INTEREST – DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS  

(ALL DEFENDANTS) 

 (Fraley declines to re-allege Count XII – Violation of 14th Amendment Property Interest - 

-Denial of Due Process, but seeks to preserve his right to appeal as to this Count.)  

COUNT XIII – MUNICIPAL/SUPERVISORY LIABILITY  
PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

(VANEGAS, SCHROECK, AND THE TOWN) 
 

 (Fraley declines to re-allege Count XIII – Municipal/Supervisory Liability given the 

Court’s direction that this Count is redundant, but seeks to preserve his right to appeal as to this 

Count.) 

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

233. Plaintiff demands trial by jury. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
KRISTOPHER T. FRALEY 

 
/s/ Melvin E. Williams 
Of counsel 
 

Melvin E. Williams (VSB No. 43305) 
 mel@melwilliamslaw.com 
Meghan S. Strickler (VSB No. 88556) 
 meghan@melwilliamslaw.com 
MEL WILLIAMS PLC 
1320 Third Street, SW 
Roanoke, Virginia 24016-4001 
540-266-7800 
540-206-3857 facsimile 
 Counsel for Kristopher T. Fraley 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

On this 22nd day of June 2020, the foregoing Second Amended Complaint was filed with 

the Clerk of this Court using the CM/ECF system, which will send notification of such filing to 

counsel of record.  

/s/ Melvin E. Williams  
Of Counsel 
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